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Natural Bridges Returns
The Santa Cruz coastline has undergone some dramatic changes over the past century or so, and watching the waves batter West Cliff in early January it’s easy to see why. 
As coastal geologists we typically take measurements from old aerial photographs or maps to see how much retreat has taken place over time and then calculate average annual cliff retreat rates. Along the Santa Cruz County coastline the average annual erosion rates of the bluffs typically range from a few inches to about a foot/year depending on a number of different factors or conditions. 
Cliff failure doesn’t occur in simple six inch or one-foot increments every year, however. Instead we see large sections of bluffs fail during high tide and large wave conditions as we experienced in early January, or arches collapse catastrophically, which may move the bluff edge back dozens of feet virtually overnight . 

Seventeen years ago, my wife and I published a book (The Santa Cruz Coast-Then and Now) comparing old photographs of the Santa Cruz coastline, many taken 75 to over 100 years ago, with photographs we took from the same locations in 2006. The book and the photographs span the area from Davenport to Seacliff and reveal some dramatic changes.
The arches of West Cliff Drive fascinated early residents and visitors alike as they do today, but the same rock weaknesses that allowed the waves to erode those arches and produce natural bridges have also led to their demise or collapse. Those weaknesses include faults and joints or fractures in the bedrock, which are zones along which waves can more easily erode the bluffs or cliffs.
The arches at Natural Bridges (previously known as Moore’s Beach, Halls’ Beach, and later, Swanton Beach) have been among the most widely visited and photographed. Richard Harrison Hall, who came from Woodstock, Vermont, to Santa Cruz in 1853, bought 300 acres on the Cliff Road, which included the beach and three natural bridges. His purchase also included the Natural Bridges Dairy.

In the 1870s, the beach was known as Moore’s Beach, named either for Moore Creek or for Eli Moore. Moore Creek begins on the UCSC campus near the Arboretum, and after crossing under Empire Grade and then Highway 1 it enters Antonelli Pond, which was formerly known as Moore Creek Lake. 
Eli Moore owned the ranch that Moore Creek ran through. He was originally from North Carolina and arrived in Santa Cruz in 1847 with his wife and five children. He bought the property from José Antonio Bolcoff, who was recognized as California’s first permanent Russian settler. In 1815, when he was about 25 years old, he deserted a Russian ship in Monterey (which was probably involved in hunting sea otters) and went on to become one of the leading citizens of the area in those early years. He married one of the prominent Castro sisters and became a naturalized citizen in 1833. Bolcoff was a grantee of the large Rancho Refugio in 1941 where he built an adobe, part of which still stands on Wilder Ranch State Park, surrounded by the old ranch buildings.

The Moore Creek Lake was created by damming the stream in 1908 and was used as a log pond for the San Vicente Lumber Company sawmill. The mill operated until 1923 when the company moved to Plumas County in northern California.

The mill site and the pond were then owned by the Antonelli brothers (John, Patrick and Peter) who grew world famous begonias on the land along Natural Bridges Drive, as they also did on Capitola Road.  The begonia property was subsequently developed into a large silicon wafer fabrication plant owned by Silicon Systems. Today that large building on the corner of Natural Bridges Drive and Delaware Avenue is a UCSC research and administration building.
The original deed for the area that today includes Natural Bridges State Beach that Richard Hall purchased from Eli Moore included a description of three natural arches. Historical photographs of Natural Bridges indicate that the outermost arch was intact in the fall of 1905 but collapsed shortly thereafter. The inner arch lasted for at least 125 years but failed during a storm on the night of January 10, 1980. So for the last 43 years only a single bridge remained.

And then, a month or so ago, a new arch opened up, closer to the beach than the remaining arch. It’s still quite small, but waves wash through it at high tide, and this will gradually enlarge over time. If you look at the arch, or actually more of a tunnel at this point, you can see a zone of weakness on the right-hand side that extends all the way to the top of the bluff. Based on a quick visit on a foggy morning, it appears to be a fault zone. So after 43 years with just a single natural bridge, we again have more than one natural bridge.
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